
 

Historic Preservation 
Commission 

Agenda 
 

Mukilteo City Hall  
Council Chambers 
November 1, 2022 

 
The Historic Preservation Commission special meeting will be held in the City Council Chambers, 
11930 Cyrus Way. For those who wish to participate remotely, live streaming of the meeting is 
available via Zoom.  

Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87481430583 
Meeting ID: 874 8143 0583| By Phone: (253) 215-8782 

 
CALL TO ORDER - 6:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
AGENDA ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

• June 23, 2022 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
MEETING ITEMS 

1. Hawthorne Hall 
2. Cancel or Reschedule November 24 Meeting – Due to Holiday  

 
COMMISSION REPORTS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

The meeting packet is available online. For accessibility information and for accommodation requests, please 
contact the ADA Coordinator at 425-263-8003 (or TRS 800-833-6384  

or dial 711), or visit the website. 
 
1 of 123

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87481430583
https://mukilteowa.gov/city-council/council-meeting-agendas-minutes-audio-video/
https://mukilteowa.gov/departments/executive/ada-program/


 

 

 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

June 23, 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 of 123



 
CITY OF MUKILTEO, WASHINGTON 

Historical Preservation Commission Minutes 
 June 23, 2022 

6:30 PM 
Virtual Meeting Via Zoom 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Called the meeting to order at 6:37 PM.  
 
ROLL CALL 
Commissioners:  
Chair Carlson, Vice-Chair Northfield, Commissioners Allen, Archipley, Kirk, and Ripley.  
Absent: Commissioner Fisher (excused). 
City Staff: 
Community Development Director Osaki and Permit Services Assistant Martinis. 
 
AGENDA ORDER No changes. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES MOTION: To approve the minutes of May 26, 2022 

MADE BY: Vice-Chair Northfield 
SECONDED: Chair Carlson 
ACTION: PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0 

 
  

PUBLIC COMMENTS None. 
 
MEETING ITEMS 

• May 26, 2022 Follow Up 
o Prior Historic Commission By Laws and Rules of Procedure 

 
Director Osaki presented a PowerPoint regarding the Mukilteo Historic Commission powers, duties, and procedures by explaining the duties of 
the Historic Preservation Commission. These duties are located in the Mukilteo Municipal Code 2.52.040 (MMC).  
 
Commission asked questions, and Director Osaki responded with further explanations.   
 
REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS 
 
The Hawthorne Hall building recently was vandalized with graffiti, and the Public Works Department cleaned it up.  
 

1. Staff Announcements/Information 
None. 
 
ADJOURNMENT MOTION: To adjourn the meeting at 7:35 PM 

MADE BY: Vice Chairperson Northfield 
SECONDED: Commissioner Allen 
ACTION: PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0 

 
NEXT MEETING To be determined. 
 
These minutes are excerpts from the Historic Preservation Commission meeting. An audio recording of the meeting was made. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
  DRAFT 
____________________________________ 
Cheryl Martinis, Permit Services Assistant 

 

3 of 123



1 
 

 

MUKILTEO HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT 

SUBJECT TITLE:  Hawthorne Hall Meeting Date: November 1, 2022 

Department Directors: 
Steve Powers, City Administrator  

EXHIBITS: 
1. February 28, 2022 Meeting Materials 
2. April 28, 2022 Agenda Bill Contact Staff: Steve Powers, City 

Administrator 

 
SUMMARY 
Staff presented an overview of this topic at the Historic Preservation Commission’s meetings of 
February 28 and April 28, 2022.  Given the passage of time since that briefing, staff thought 
providing the Commission an additional opportunity to discuss Hawthorne Hall and ask questions 
was warranted. 
 
For the Historic Preservation Commission’s convenience, the meeting materials from the 
February 28th and April 28th meetings are attached as an exhibit to this agenda bill.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Historic Preservation Commission to ask questions, if any. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
None.   

4 of 123



MUKILTEO HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT 

SUBJECT TITLE:  Hawthorne Hall FOR AGENDA OF: 
February 28, 2022 

Department Director(s): 
David Osaki, Community Development 
Director 

EXHIBITS: 
1. Mukilteo City Council February 8, 2021

Council Packet - Hawthorne Hall

Contact Staff: David Osaki, Community 
Development Director  

RECOMMENDATION 
Mukilteo Historic Commission to discuss Hawthorne Hall.  This includes, for those commission 
members who are interested, discussing a future site visit. 

BACKGROUND 
As was discussed at the Commission’s January 13, 2022 meeting, one of the properties on the 
Mukilteo Register of Historic Places is City owned property commonly referred to as Hawthorne 
Hall.    

Located at 1134 2nd Street, Hawthorne Hall is an approximately 7,500 square foot building on an 
approximately 0.36 acre parcel.   The property is located at the end of a dead-end street (2nd 
Street) in a single family zoned area.  The Hawthorne Hall property is also zoned single family 
residential (“RD 7.5 Single Family Residential”). 

The Hawthorne Hall property was leased by the City to the Mukilteo Boys and Girls Club of 
Snohomish County (BGCSC) from the mid-1960’s to about 2019.   With the opening of its new 
facility at 10600 47th Place West (in Mukilteo), the BGCSC vacated Hawthorne Hall.   It has 
remained vacant since. 

The City Council has been discussing the future use of Hawthorne Hall.   The most recent City 
Council discussion of the future use of Hawthorne Hall was February 8, 2021.    Exhibit 1 is the 
City Council February 8, 2021 Agenda Bill (i.e. staff report) and associated exhibits.   

Discussion about Hawthorne Hall’s future use has centered on the following four (4) options. 

Option 1.  
Sell the property.  Sale of the property could take different forms.    The City could: 

• Sell "as-is".  Sell the property “as is” to a buyer either for reuse of the
building or for building demolition and redevelopment.

• Prepare the building/property for sale.  This would be appropriate if there
was a buyer who wishes to retain the existing building.

5 of 123



• Demolish the building and sell the land.

Option 2 
Lease the property to an interested organization. 

Option 3 
City use for governmental/community purposes. 

Option 4 
A combination of Option 2 and Option 3 above. 

These four (4) options are discussed in more detail in the attached February 8, 2021 City 
Council Agenda Bill materials.  

Among additional items included in the attached February 8, 2021 City Council Agenda Bill 
materials are: 

• Hawthorne Hall building/property characteristics, including historical and recent
Snohomish County Assessor information.

• A September 2020 Structural Condition Assessment Report (“Assessment Report”)
prepared by OTAK, Inc., with cost estimates for improvements.

• A historic property inventory form (for Hawthorne Hall)
• The results of Hawthorne Hall Online Public Survey - An open online survey was made

available to the public on November 17, 2020 and closed on January 25, 2021.  The
survey was shared through the City’s website and the City’s Facebook page. A total of 189
survey responses were received.

• Summary of staff outreach to various organizations and agencies.
• Zoning discussion.  The property is currently zoned “RD 7.5 Single Family Residential”,

which requires minimum lot size of at least 7,500 square feet.

No City Council decision has been made about Hawthorne Hall. 

The February 28, 2022 Historic Preservation Commission meeting will include a discussion of 
Hawthorne Hall.   At the February 28, 2022 Commission, staff will outline what the 
Commission’s role might take depending on possible options that are pursued. 

In addition, we will discuss visiting a site, which could occur as a whole Commission, or in 
smaller groups. 

ALTERNATIVES 
None.   

6 of 123



MUKILTEO CITY COUNCIL AGENDA BILL21-08 

SUBJECT TITLE: Hawthorne Hall Discussion Meeting Date:  February 8, 2021 

Staff Lead:  David Osaki, Community 
Development Director 

Exhibits: 
1. PowerPoint
2. Summary - Building/Property Characteristics
3. Hawthorne Hall Historic Property Inventory Form
4. Mukilteo Comprehensive Plan - “Historical Identity

and Character”
5. September 18, 2021 OTAK Hawthorne Hall Structural

Condition Assessment Report w/ Attach. C
(Hazardous Materials Report) and Attach. E (Cost
Estimates)

6. Staff Summary - Hawthorne Hall Structural Condition
Assessment Report

7. Hawthorne Hall Public Outreach - Survey Results
8. City of Tacoma - Sept. 2015 Request for Interest

(Reuse of Old City Hall)

Department Director: 
David Osaki, Community Development 
Director 

Estimated Time: 90 Minutes 

Previous Review: January 17, 2017, February 21, 2017, July 10, 2017 memo, September 4, 2018,  April 
22, 2019, September 3, 2019, November 25, 2019, October 12, 2020 

RECOMMENDATION:  Discussion and direction on Hawthorne Hall, including future use of the 

property/building. 

SUMMARY: 

Future use of Hawthorne Hall has been discussed for several years with the construction of a new Boys 
and Girls Club facility at 10600 47th Place West and the expectation that the Boys and Girls Clubs of 
Snohomish County would eventually vacate Hawthorne Hall, which occurred in late 2019. 

The primary options for the Hawthorne Hall’s future use that have been discussed include: 

1. Selling the property;

2. Leasing the property to an interested organization.

3. City use for governmental/community purposes.

4. A combination of 2 and 3 above.

Below you will find a brief assessment of the potential use alternatives, as well as: 
A. Current Structural Assessment
B. Zoning
C. Potential Revenue and Expenses
D. Historic Preservation
E. Public Outreach

BACKGROUND: 

Hawthorne Hall is a City owned building/property, approximately 7,500 square foot in size on an 

approximately 0.36 acre parcel (based on Snohomish County Assessor information). It is located at 1134 

Exhibit 1

1
7 of 123

https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=544&meta_id=20909
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=544&meta_id=20909
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=552&meta_id=21399
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=552&meta_id=21399
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=591&meta_id=23350
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=591&meta_id=23350
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=693&meta_id=28885
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=693&meta_id=28885
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=765&meta_id=32333
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=765&meta_id=32333
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=765&meta_id=32333
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=765&meta_id=32333
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=793&meta_id=33963
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=793&meta_id=33963
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=817&meta_id=35152
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=817&meta_id=35152
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=901&meta_id=38726
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=901&meta_id=38726


2 

2nd Street at the end of a dead-end street in a single family zoned area. The property was leased to the 

Mukilteo Boys and Girls Club from the mid-1960’s to 2019 (at a rate of $1.00 per year).  With the 

opening of its new facility at 10600 47th Place West (in Mukilteo), the Boys and Girls Clubs of Snohomish 

County (BGCSC) vacated Hawthorne Hall.   

Most recently, a Structural Condition Assessment Report was completed on the building.  That report 
was presented to the City Council on October 12, 2020.   

Exhibit 2 provides additional Hawthorne Hall building/property characteristics, including historical and 

current Snohomish County Assessor information.  It includes a discussion of why the assessed valuation 

declined from 2019 to 2020.  Exhibit 2 also includes background information on current zoning (RD-

7500) as well as the building’s designation on the Mukilteo Register of Historic Places (see also Exhibits 3 

and 4 for additional historical background). 

ALTERNATIVES FOR THE PROPERTY 
Discussion to date has generally focused on four (4) alternatives for the future use of the property.   An 
online public outreach survey discussed later in this Agenda Bill sought input on these four alternatives 
which include: 

ALTERNATIVE 1. Sell the Property 

Sale of the property could take several forms.    The City could: 

A. Sell "as-is".  Sell the property “as is” to a buyer either for reuse of the building or for

building demolition and redevelopment.

B. Prepare the building/property for sale.  This would be appropriate if there was a buyer

who wishes to retain the existing building.

C. Demolish the building and sell the land.

An appraisal has not been done on the property.  Two vacant properties (each zoned RD 7500, the 

same as Hawthorne Hall) on 2nd Street, both within 1/4 mile of Hawthorne Hall, sold in 2018.  One 

7,500 square foot property sold for $370,000; a 0.26 acre vacant property sold for $500,000. 

Fees and tasks would affect sale proceeds and include, for example, appraisal, realtor fees, closing 

costs etc.   Demolition costs may also be required.   The net return to the City would be less than 

the actual sales price. 

ALTERNATIVE 2:  Reuse the Building for City Functions 

Two distinct City uses of Hawthorne Hall have been identified.  One would be to support Police 

Department activities, the other for Recreation and Cultural Services Department activities.   

Mukilteo Police Department 

Use of the Hawthorne Hall by the Mukilteo Police Department would not be as a 

full-service police station, but might include public outreach, crime prevention 

training, police volunteers, storage, etc.   

8 of 123



3 

Police Department use of the building would be incidental, and not involve 

occupying the building for any regular extended periods of time.   There would not 

be a reliable or significant revenue generating source from the Police Department’s 

use of the building. 

Recreation and Cultural Services Department   

The Recreation and Cultural Services Department has indicated that use of 

Hawthorne Hall needs to consider the following:  

 As the City recovers activity at the Rosehill Community Center due to

COVID, the earliest the Recreation and Cultural Services Department

would be prepared to make use of Hawthorne Hall would be 2022.

 Indoor youth activities and adult exercise is possible but envisioned

only at a level for a few hours a day.

 Hawthorne Hall has not been evaluated in the current Recreation and

Cultural Services Department business plan.

 Any outside organization that uses Hawthorne Hall should not

compete with City sponsored programs.

As neither the Police Department nor the Recreation and Cultural Services Department 

anticipate extensive building use, capacity for joint use of the building by both Departments is 

possible. The limited use also means cost recovery will not occur. 

ALTERNATIVE 3:   Lease the Building 

The City could lease the building.   For instance, during the past several years the Blue Royals 

Volleyball Academy has inquired about leasing of the building (the Blue Royals Volleyball 

Academy has also mentioned the possibility of purchase).    

ALTERNATIVE 4:   Joint City Use and Lease of the Building 

This alternative is a combination of Alternative 2 and Alternative 3 above, allowing for joint use 

of Hawthorne Hall by both the City (Alternative 2) and one or more tenants (Alternative 3).   

OTHER ISSUES 

A. OTAK STRUCTURAL CONDITION ASSESSMENT REPORT (September 2020)
To assist in evaluating options for Hawthorne Hall, Otak Inc. was hired to conduct an assessment of

Hawthorne Hall’s structural condition.  The September 2020 Structural Condition Assessment Report

(“Assessment Report”) concludes that the building is generally in “fair condition overall” (See Exhibit 5

for the Assessment Report, including Attachment C (Hazardous Materials Report) and Attachment E Cost

Estimates to the Report).

A staff summary of the Assessment Report is included in Exhibit 6. 

9 of 123



4 

In summary, the Assessment identified costs for the following structural improvements needed to bring 

the building up to meet construction codes. 

Construction Cost Component Total 

Foundations $95,120 

Floor Framing 38,587 

Wall Framing 111,494 

Roof Framing 45,469 

Lateral System/Seismic 285,995 

Seismic Checklist 10,552 

TOTAL $587,217 

Assumptions that went into the above costs are included in the Assessment Report including, but not 

limited to, the start date (August 2021) and competitive bidding.  The cost estimates also are for direct 

costs only and exclude many items including architect/engineering fees, consultant fees, sales tax, 

hazardous materials testing and removal, and other normally associated development costs. 

In addition, the consultant recommended not occupying the building until a truss bearing issue is 

addressed.   A cost of $6,000 (direct costs only) was identified to remedy that issue. 

Hazardous Materials  

The Otak Structural Conditions Assessment Report also includes a hazardous materials report (See 

Exhibit 5, Appendix C).  That report found a very limited amount of asbestos in the building, and lead 

paint in the main hall (gym) and several exterior siding paint coatings. 

The hazardous materials report’s purpose was to determine what type of methods the consultant could 

perform for the structural assessment (i.e. the presence or absence of hazardous materials would 

determine whether or not investigative openings could be cut into a wall).   

Cost estimates were not developed for hazardous materials environmental remediation/removal since 

the Assessment focused on structural issues. 

B. ZONING - USES

Prior information to the City Council has indicated that future use of the Hawthorne Hall property must

comply with zoning and building regulations.

The property is zoned RD 7.5 Single Family Residential.   The prior use of the property (Boys and Girls 

Clubs) was established in the mid-1960’s and pre-dated currently adopted zoning regulations. 

Current zoning regulations for future use of the property apply.   Examples of certain potential 

Hawthorne Hall property/building land uses and how they are addressed in the RD-7500 Zoning District 

include: 

10 of 123



5 

 

 

MUKILTEO ZONING CODE  

RD-7500 ZONING DISTRICT  

USE NOTES 

Single Family Residences Permitted Use.   Division of land, if pursued, must meet 7,500 

square foot minimum lot size and other bulk/dimension 

requirements. 

Clubs, charitable, nonprofit or 

social organization  

Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and 

Decision based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 )  

Government Offices Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and 

Decision based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 ) 

Places of worship Conditional Use Permit.  (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and 

Decision based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 ) 

Community center buildings 
and grounds 

Not permitted in RD 7500.  Permitted in the Public/Semi-Public 
Use zoning District. A comprehensive plan/zoning amendment 
would be required. 

Government garage, shops, 

fire stations, police stations 

and storage buildings 

Not permitted in RD-7500, although staff would look at seeing if 

use of a building associated with police, fire etc., that are basically 

office functions, would fit into the Government Office use 

category and be allowed subject to a conditional use permit. 

Office, General Not permitted in RD-7500.  Permitted in all commercial and 

industrial zones. 

 
C. REVENUE/COSTS 

Revenue (City Use of the Building Only) 

As noted above, revenue from Police Department and Recreation and Cultural Services Department use 

of the Hawthorne Hall would be low.     

 

As mentioned earlier, a business plan for public use of Hawthorne Hall for event rental or other activities 

that would generate revenue has not been developed.   

 

EXPENSES (City Use of the Building Only) 

Expenses for City use of Hawthorne Hall include: 

 

ITEM EXPENSES 

 Recreation and Cultural Arts 

Department Staffing 

 $25,000 or more - 1/4 to 1/2 FTE (depending on 

level of use) 

 Operations/Maintenance (once 

the building is operational) 

 $30,000 Annually - Facilities Maintenance O&M  

 $30,000 Annually - ½ time FTE Custodian  

 $  8,000  Annually - Building and Fixture Repair 
and Maintenance  

 Utilities   $6,300 Annually (2020 utility costs, building was 

vacant) 

11 of 123



6 

 Insurance  $1,500 Annually (building vacant, no contents)

Costs not included in the above are items like furnishings (e.g. desks), technology infrastructure (e.g. 
phone, computers, copy machine), recreational equipment and similar items. 

Tenant Improvement Costs 

International Building Code (IBC) and International Fire Code (IFC) has requirements for change of use of 

a building.   

The IBC identifies building requirements/upgrades necessary for different uses that might occupy a 

building. Accessibility (e.g. for disabilities), fire (e.g. sprinklers), energy (e.g. insulation) improvements 

are sometimes required with the change of use of a building depending on the proposed use and the 

extent to which the new use modifies the building interior in relation to the prior use. 

These requirements are identified at the time a new use is proposed and evaluated based on the extent 

of the proposed alterations.  

D. HISTORIC PRESERVATION
Mukilteo Register of Historic Places/MMC Chapter 2.52 “Historic Preservation”

The Mukilteo City Council placed Hawthorne Hall on the Mukilteo Register of Historic Places in 1993.

This designation is acknowledged in the City of Mukilteo Comprehensive Plan.   (See Exhibit 3 for

Hawthorne Hall Historic Property Inventory Form and Exhibit 4 for the City of Mukilteo Comprehensive

Plan Land Use Element excerpt on “Historical Identity and Character.)

Removing, remodeling, changing the use and demolishing buildings on the local historic register are 

addressed in Mukilteo Municipal Code (MMC) Chapter 2.52, Historic Preservation.   The MMC assigns 

duties to evaluate impacts and changes to a property on the historic register, including demolition, to 

the City’s Historic Commission (seven members, two of which must be professionals who have 

experience in identifying, evaluating, and protecting historic resources).  

The City’s Historic Commission has not been active for many years.   At its September 3, 2019 meeting, 

the City Council passed a motion to reinstate the Historic Preservation Commission.   Staff has been 

prepared to do this but has postponed active recruitment due in part to COVID-19 and also awaiting 

completion of the structural assessment. 

E. PUBLIC OUTREACH

Hawthorne Hall Online Public Survey 

An open online survey was made available to the public on November 17, 2020 and closed on January 
25, 2021.  The survey was shared through the City’s website and the City’s Facebook page. A total of 189 
survey responses were received. 

12 of 123

https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=793&meta_id=33963
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=793&meta_id=33963


7 

Four questions were asked related to the following: 

1. General location of respondent residence

2. Employment/Retired status

3. Preference for what should happen to Hawthorne Hall in general

4. Preference for what should happen to Hawthorne Hall, if City revenues were limited

Exhibit 7 identifies the questions in full, the results with graphics, and written responses and includes all 
comments to the “Other” category.   In summary: 

1. Respondent Location

 Old Town 36.5% 

 Harbour Pointe 31.2% 

 Mid-Town 24.0% 

 Outside City  7.4% 

2. Respondent Employment Status

 Employed   79.9% 

 Retired   12.7% 

 Other  7.4%  (e.g. certain respondents identified themselves as 

Homemaker, Stay home parent)

3. General Preference for Hawthorne Hall

56%

18% 14%
9%

3%

Joint use between
public and private

Sell the Property Other (please
specify)

Reuse building for
City functions

Lease the building

What would you like to see happen 
with Hawthorne Hall?

13 of 123



8 

4. Preference for Hawthorne Hall if City revenues are limited

In addition to the public survey, staff reached out to various organizations including, as examples, the 

Mukilteo Historical Society, Mukilteo Senior Association, Jericho Bridge Church, YMCA, Boys and Girls 

Clubs, Washington State Department of Archeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP) and others 

including a Historical Society for another City.   The Parks and Arts Commission (PAC) and Planning 

Commission were also briefed, not to make a recommendation, but to provide comments and ideas. 

The purpose of the outreach was not necessarily to determine an organization’s interest in use of 

Hawthorne Hall, but to obtain ideas for future building use.  Not all agencies responded. 

Highlights of this outreach included: 

Mukilteo Historical Society 

The Mukilteo Historical Society mentioned the following.   

 Recognizes that the future of the building rests with the City.

 Hawthorne Hall’s location and lack of visibility would not lend itself to certain uses that might

benefit from pass-by traffic to get visitors to the property.   A challenge for Hawthorne Hall as a

museum site, for instance, is its location and lack of visibility to pass by traffic. In contrast,

Lighthouse Park has ample parking, more visibility and surrounding land uses that attract more

people to that (Lighthouse Park) location.

 While the property has off-street parking spaces, the number is insufficient for certain uses.

 See if Hawthorne Hall can fill a need or void that Rosehill cannot provide.  This might include

weddings at a different scale, size and expense than those at Rosehill.

 Use the building for event space (that may or may not include certain historical themes) such as:

 Seasonal Events (e.g. Decorate and sell holiday trees)

 Holiday party rentals

47%

24%

7% 7%
15%

Joint use
between public

and private

Sell the Property Other (please
specify)

Reuse building
for City functions

Lease the
building

If City revenues were limited, what would you 
like to see happen with Hawthorne Hall?

14 of 123



9 

 

 Fundraisers 

 The National Trust for Historic Preservation website may have additional ideas.     

 

Mukilteo Senior Association  

 Indicated that the property has insufficient parking for their use. 

 

Mukilteo Chamber of Commerce 

 The existing Chamber of Commerce site works better than Hawthorne Hall, in part because of 

Hawthorne Hall’s limited visibility. 

 
Washington State Department of Archeology and Historic Preservation 

 Asked if the City was planning to put out a request for proposals to potential 

developers/business owners and identified examples (See Exhibit 8 for an example - City of 

Tacoma “Request for Interest.”) 

 Acknowledged the site is “boxed in” and asked if moving the building is an option, although 

moving the building would not be a cheap option.  

 Mentioned holding a community meeting to ask residents and/or holding a community design 

charrette with a local architect that would be interested in donating his/her time.  

 Was distributing information about Hawthorne Hall to its professional network to see if there 

were additional ideas from others.  (The City did not receive additional comments back from 

DAHP.)   

 

Jericho Bridge Church 

In 2017, the Jericho Bridge Church submitted a letter (See Exhibit 9) regarding Hawthorne Hall which 

included a range of ideas.  Their Jericho Bridge Church Board met again in January 2021 and indicated 

that it did not have new information to offer outside of the letter. 

 

Additional Comments: 

Additional ideas received about use of the property for the public (in addition to the on-line survey 

comments) include:  

 Allow non-profits in our community to have communal office space  

 An art studio or a daycare/art studio mixed 

 Use as a dance hall, reflective of its prior use.  (e.g. dance hall for teens).  It would keep the 

history alive and also meet the unmet need for teens in our community (which is listed as a 

need in the PROSA). 

 Pickleball 

 Remote office space (maybe combined with a daycare idea so that parents who are working and 

have kids at home could have a way to have them attend class while the parent gets work done) 

 Create an AirBnB for City revenue  

 Renovate the basketball court.  The YMCA and the Boys and Girls Club are not very accessible to 

the kids in Old Town  

15 of 123



10 

 Allow non-profit groups such as the historical society, domestic violence, master gardeners,

food bank, Kiwanis, rotary, chamber, Mukilteo yacht club, quilting club, or maybe any group that

doesn’t have a physical location pay a small monthly fee in order to use the facility to host small

gatherings.

 Pop up kitchens - different groups can use the kitchen and serve food in the basketball area.

Some professional chefs open their pop-ups to build their culinary reputation.  Others open a

pop-up restaurant to test out a restaurant concept, using it as an avenue to entice both the

public and investors.

 Sell the property. City resources are already spread thin. Consider using proceeds to improve

existing community assets.

 Interim housing for Mukilteo youth in need of housing until referred to local social services.

16 of 123



1

Hawthorne Hall

Mukilteo City Council

AB20-08  

February 8, 2021

17 of 123



Hawthorne Hall

1134 2nd Street

2

• Built in Early 1920’s by Volunteers (Funding, 

Labor, & Materials)

• City owned since the 1950’s

• Used by Boy and Girls Clubs since mid-1960’s to 

2019 ($1.00 per year)

• Mukilteo Register of 

Historic Places (1993)

18 of 123



General Property Characteristics 

Existing Zoning

• RD 7.5 Single Family Residential

• Surrounding properties all zoned RD 7.5 Single Family Residential
(including south across 2nd Street)

Lot Size

• Approximately 0.36 acres  (County Assessor Information) ~15,600
square feet)

Building Square Footage

• Approximately 7,492 Square Feet (County Assessor Information)

• Main Floor  6,000 square feet

Parking

• 12 marked parking spaces (includes one disabled parking space)

3

19 of 123



Conceptual Floor Building Layout

Main (1st) Floor

• ¾ size basketball court

• 1st floor also has restrooms 
&  equipment storage closets 
(not shown, but in location of offices)

Upper Floor 

• Storage

4

20 of 123



Mukilteo Register 

of Historic Places (1993) 

• Municipal Code assigns evaluation of impacts and changes 

to Mukilteo Historic Register properties, including 

demolition, to the City’s Historic Commission

• September 3, 2019 - Council passed motion to reinstate 

Historic Commission

• Recruitment delayed with COVID and completion of 

structural assessment

5

21 of 123



Prior Discussions on Future Use

ALTERNATIVE 1:  Sell the Property

• “As-is"  

• Prepare the building/property for sale   

• Demolish the building/sell the land 

ALTERNATIVE 2: Exclusive City Use

Police Department* 

• Public outreach, crime prevention training, police volunteers, 

storage, and other training 

Recreation and Cultural Services Department * 

• Youth/adult gym space, indoor youth activities and adult 

exercise   

*Neither the Police Department nor Recreation and Cultural Services  

Department  would occupy the building for regular extended periods of 

time.

6

22 of 123



Prior Discussions 

on Future Use (Cont)

ALTERNATIVE 3:  Lease the Building

(e.g. Blue Royals Volleyball Academy expressed interest in building

lease, maybe purchase)

ALTERNATIVE 4:  Combine Alternative 2 and Alternative 3

Joint use of the facility by both a non-City organization and the City.

7

23 of 123



Recreation and Cultural Services 

Department

Hawthorne Hall Use would need to consider: 

• Rosehill’s 2021 focus is on recovering activity in Rosehill.  The earliest
use of Hawthorne Hall would be 2022.

• Indoor youth activities and adult exercise is possible, but envisioned
only at a level of a few hours a day.

• Hawthorne Hall is not in the current Recreation and Cultural Services
Department business plan.

• Any outside organization that uses Hawthorne Hall should not
compete with City sponsored programs.

8

24 of 123



OTAK Hawthorne Hall 
Structural Condition 
Assessment Report   

(September 2020)

9

25 of 123



Structural Condition Assessment Report 

Direct Construction Cost Estimates

Building Component Total

Foundations $95,120

Floor Framing 38,587

Wall Framing 111,494

Roof Framing 45,469

Lateral System/Seismic 285,995

Seismic Checklist 10,552

TOTAL $587,217

10

26 of 123



Structural Condition Assessment Report

Construction Cost Estimates

• Estimates are direct construction costs (Did not include

architect/engineering fees, consultant fees, sales tax, and/or any other
similar development costs

• Recommends no indoor uses until wall truss
addressed (about $6,000 in direct construction costs)

• Very limited amount of asbestos.  Lead paint in the
main hall/exterior.   (No cost estimates for hazardous materials

environmental remediation/removal)

11

27 of 123



Zoning - Land Uses

MUKILTEO ZONING CODE 

RD-7500 ZONING DISTRICT 

USE NOTES
Single Family Residences Permitted Use. Division of land, if pursued, must meet 7,500 square foot 

minimum lot size and other bulk/dimension requirements.

Clubs, charitable, nonprofit or 

social organization 

Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and Decision 

based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 ) 

Government Offices Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and Decision 

based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 )

Places of worship Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and Decision 

based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 )

Community center buildings and 
grounds

Not permitted in RD 7500.  Permitted in the Public/Semi-Public Use zoning 
District. A comprehensive plan map/rezone would be required.

Government garage, shops, fire 

stations, police stations and 

storage buildings

Not permitted in RD-7500, although staff would look at seeing if use of a 

building associated with police, fire etc., that are basically office functions, 

would fit into the Government Office use category and be allowed subject 

to a conditional use permit.

Office, General Not permitted in RD-7500. Permitted in all commercial and industrial 

zones.

12

28 of 123



Operating Expenses

ITEM EXPENSE

 Recreation and Cultural Arts 

Staffing (limited recreational 

use)

 $25,000 or more - 1/4 to 1/2 FTE (depending on 

level of use)

 Utilities  $  6,300 Annually (2020 utility costs, building 

vacant)

 Insurance  $  1,500 Annually (building vacant, no contents) 

 Operation/Maintenance (once 

the building is operational)

 $30,000 Annually - Facilities Maintenance O&M
 $30,000 Annually - ½ time FTE Custodian
 $  8,000  Annually - Building & Fixture Repair 

and Maintenance 

13

Furnishings (e.g. desks), technology infrastructure (e.g. phone, computers, copy machine), 
recreational equipment and similar items not included.

29 of 123



Public Outreach

14

30 of 123



On Line Public Survey

• Survey Open Mid-November 2020 to January 25, 2021

• 189 Responses

• Four  (4) Questions

1. General Location of where respondent lives (four choices)

2. Employed/Retired

3. Preference for future use (five choices, including Other)

4. Preference for future use, if City revenues were limited
(same five choices as above, including Other)

• Respondents were able to add brief comments (see Exhibit 7 for

comments to the survey questions)

15

31 of 123



16

32 of 123



17

33 of 123



18

34 of 123



Public Outreach

• Organizations such as Mukilteo Historical Society, Mukilteo Senior 
Association, Jericho Bridge Church,  YMCA, Boys and Girls Clubs, 
another historical society.

o Obtain ideas for future use, including other possible organizations 
that may have interest

• Parks and Arts Commission (PAC) and Planning Commission 
briefed

19

35 of 123



Mukilteo 

Historical Society

• Location poses challenges for a Museum 
o Lack of visibility, no pass by traffic,  difficult to find

o Lighthouse Park offers  parking, more visibility and surrounding uses 
(e.g. waterfront, commercial businesses) to attract casual visitors

• Hawthorne Hall might fill a need or void that Rosehill 
cannot provide.  

(e.g. weddings at a different scale, size and expense)  

• Event space (that may or may not include certain historical themes)

o Decorate and sell holiday trees

o Holiday party rentals

o Fundraisers

20

36 of 123



Washington

State Department of Archeology and Historic 

Preservation (DAHP)

• Was the City planning to issue a request for proposals to potential

developers/business owners?

• Acknowledged the property is “boxed in”.  Is moving the building an option,

(although not moving the building would not be inexpensive)?

• Mentioned holding a community meeting and/or holding a community design

charrette with a local architect that would be interested in donating time.

• Distributed information about Hawthorne Hall to its professional network to

solicit ideas.  The City did not receive additional comments from DAHP.

21

37 of 123



QUESTIONS

22

38 of 123



1 

EXHIBIT 2 

GENERAL PROPERTY/BUILDING/ASSESSOR INFORMATION 

Basic information about the Hawthorne Hall property is as follows: 

Lot Size:  Approximately 0.36 acres (Snohomish County Assessor 

Information.) 

Building Square Footage Approximately 7,492 Square Feet (Snohomish County Assessor 

Information).  The main floor is just less than 6,000 square feet 

and includes office space, ¾ size basketball court, a small 

recreation craft space and a small meeting room/ kitchenette 

area.   An upper mezzanine is used for storage. 

The conceptual first floor layout is as follows (restrooms, storage 

areas are located generally in areas where the offices are labeled 

and not shown): 

39 of 123



2 

Parking Spaces: 12 marked parking spaces (which includes one disabled 

parking space) 

Comprehensive Plan Designation: Single Family - High Density Residential 

Zoning District:  RD 7.5 Single Family Residential 

Surrounding Zoning: Properties to the North, East, South (across 2nd Street) and 

west are all zoned RD 7.5 Single Family Residential. The 

properties are all developed with single family residences. 

Snohomish County Assessor Data  

The City Council previously asked about the decline in County assessed values for Hawthorne Hall in 
2020 from earlier years 

Hawthorne Hall assessed valuation data (1134 2nd Street, Snohomish County Assessor’s Parcel No. 

28040400102500) for 2021 (2021 pending information is now available), 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017 

is as follows: 

Item Pending 2021 

Tax Year 

Assessment 

2020 

Tax Year 

Assessment 

2019 

Tax Year 

Assessment 

2018 

Tax Year 

Assessment 

2017 

Tax Year 

Assessment 

Market Value - 

Improvements 

$251,700  $276,500 $838,100 $644,200 $741,700 

Market Value  - 

Land 

$513,200 $513,200 $361,900 $476,800 $326,300 

Total $764,900 $789,700 $1,200,000 $1,121,000 $1,068,000 

Staff contacted the Snohomish County Assessor’s Office and was provided with the following 
information for why the decline in 2020 compared to prior years likely exists.  In brief, it appears to 
be attributable to staff changes and the methodology different staff opted to use. 

The County Assessor’s office indicated that a staff member who had been doing the assessment for 
Hawthorne Hall in earlier years retired and a new staff person took over assessment responsibilities. 

The new staff person used a different methodology on the building (“Improvement”).  The land value 
has increased or stayed the same during this time frame.   That new staff person has also since 
retired and did not leave any notes explaining why he used a different methodology or the 
assumptions he used that reflect his analysis. 

Finally, the County Assessor’s Office indicated that the 2022 Tax Year valuation work will begin 
around February/March 2021.   The County Assessor’s Office indicated that it will give consideration 
to going back to the earlier model (or some variation of it) at that time and have made note to 
contact the City when that 2022 Tax Year process begins. 

40 of 123



3 

Mukilteo Register of Historic Places  

The City of Mukilteo maintains a Mukilteo Register of Historic Places. (There are also sites/facilities in 

Mukilteo on the Washington Historic Register as well as on the National Register of Historic Places). 

Local, state and federal historic sites are identified in the Mukilteo Comprehensive Plan in the 

discussion under “Historical Identify and Character” (City of Mukilteo Comprehensive Plan Land Use 

Element, Pgs. 31-32.) 

The five (5) sites on the Mukilteo Register of Historic Places, including Hawthorne Hall (identified as 

Boys and Girls Club), are: 

 Boys and Girls Club: 1134 - 2nd Street  

 McNab-Hogland House: 917 Webster Street 

 Epps House: 821- 4th Street

 Siemens House: 1013 - 4th Street

 Nelson House: 8216 - 45th Place West

The City of Mukilteo Land Use Policies related to “Historical Identify and Character” are: 

“LU10: Mukilteo’s historical identity shall be preserved, enhanced, and celebrated.” 

“The City shall facilitate the inventorying of historically significant buildings, structures, sites 

and objects, and assist owners of historic property to obtain city, state and/or national 

historic designations (LU10a).” 

“Public art and the naming of parks, streets and public places after historical figures and 

events shall be encouraged (LU10b).” 

The City’s Historic Identity and Character policies are implemented in part by Mukilteo Municipal 
Code (MMC) Chapter 2.52 entitled “Historic Preservation”.  MMC Chapter 2.52 establishes the 
Mukilteo Historic Commission and processes to review changes to buildings on the Mukilteo Register 
of Historic Places. 

41 of 123



EXHIBIT  3

42 of 123



43 of 123



44 of 123



EXHIBIT 4

45 of 123



46 of 123



47 of 123



Hawthorne Hall 

1134 2nd Street, Mukilteo, WA 

Structural Condition Assessment Report 

Submitted to: 

City of Mukilteo 

11930 Cyrus Way 

Mukilteo, WA 98275 

Prepared By: 

Otak. Inc. 

808 3•d Avenue, Suite 800 

Portland, OR 97204 

Project No. 032959.A00 

EXHIBIT 5

48 of 123



49 of 123



50 of 123



51 of 123



52 of 123



53 of 123



54 of 123



55 of 123



56 of 123



57 of 123



58 of 123



  APPENDIX C
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS REPORT

59 of 123



60 of 123



61 of 123



62 of 123



63 of 123



64 of 123



65 of 123



66 of 123



67 of 123



68 of 123



69 of 123



70 of 123



71 of 123



72 of 123



73 of 123



74 of 123



75 of 123



                APPENDIX E
           COST ESTIMATES

76 of 123



77 of 123



78 of 123



79 of 123



80 of 123



81 of 123



1 

EXHIBIT 6 

Staff Summary 

OTAK Hawthorne Hall Structural Conditions Assessment Report 

To assist in evaluating options for Hawthorne Hall, Otak Inc. was hired to conduct an 

assessment of Hawthorne Hall’s structural condition.   Because the Structural Condition 

Assessment Report (“Assessment Report”) is quite technical, the consultant attended the 

October 12, 2020 City Council to present its findings.   

The Assessment Report evaluates the building’s physical condition checking for decay, cracking 

or other signs of deterioration.  It also evaluates structural adequacy in relation to current code 

requirements.   

In both cases (physical condition and structural adequacy) the Assessment Report offers key 

findings on the following building elements:  Foundation, Floor Framing, Wall Framing, Roof 

Framing, and Stair Framing.   

On a high level, the Assessment Report concludes that the building is generally in “fair condition 

overall”.   A general summary of the Assessment Report’s findings, as presented in the 

Assessment Report’s Executive Summary, is as follows: 

BUILDING COMPONENT FINDINGS 

 Foundations and Stair

Framing

 Good Condition and adequate for current

code required loads

 Floor and Wall Framing  Good condition with some deficiencies

under current code required loads

 Roof Framing  Good condition but exhibits visible sagging

in the west wing and areas of decay along

the exposed portions of the southwest side

of the building

 Main hall and west wing not adequate for

current code required loads

In offering its recommendations, the Assessment Report indicates that the building code allows 

buildings to be occupied under certain conditions when they do not meet current code 

requirements.  The Assessment Report further adds that the purpose of the Assessment Report 

was to document what would be required to meet current code rather than suitability for 

occupancy.  

82 of 123



2 

Appendix E to the Assessment Report presents cost estimates for recommended improvements 

to bring the building up to an acceptable level of performance per current building codes.  The 

cost estimates address six areas with cost estimates as follows: 

Construction Cost Component Total 

Foundations $95,120 

Floor Framing 38,587 

Wall Framing 111,494 

Roof Framing 45,469 

Lateral System/Seismic 285,995 

Seismic Checklist 10,552 

TOTAL $587,217 

The above cost estimates assume a construction start date of August 2021, as well as assume a 

competitively bid project with at least three qualified bidders in each of the major sub-trades 

and the general contractor. 

An escalation model is provided for the cost estimates through the year 2023, essentially 

estimating a five (5) to seven (7) percent cost increase per year compounded. 

These construction cost estimates are also for direct construction costs only, and do not include 

items such as architect/engineering fees, consultant fees, sales tax, hazardous materials testing 

and removal, and/or any other normally associated development costs. 

Hazardous Materials  

The Assessment Report includes a hazardous materials report.  That report found a very limited 

amount of asbestos in the building, and lead paint in the main hall. 

The purpose of the hazardous materials report was to determine what type of methods the 

consultant could perform for the structural assessment (i.e. the presence or absence of 

hazardous materials would determine whether or not investigative openings could be cut into a 

wall).  Cost estimates were not developed for hazardous materials environmental 

remediation/removal since the Assessment Report focused on structural issues. 

83 of 123



1 

EXHIBIT 7 

An online survey was made available on November 17, 2020, and closed on January 25, 2021.   189 

survey responses were received.  The survey was shared through the City’s website news update and 

the City’s Facebook page.  

Four questions were asked: 

1) Which best describes where you live?

a) Old Town, Mukilteo

b) Mid Town, Mukilteo

c) Harbour Pointe, Mukilteo

d) Outside the City

2) Are you employed or retired?

a) Employed

b) Retired

c) Other

3) What would you like to see happen with Hawthorne Hall?

a) Sell the property

b) Lease the building

c) Reuse the building for City functions

d) Joint use between public and private (allow public to rent space, also use for City functions)

e) Other

4) If City revenues were limited, what would you like to see happen with Hawthorne Hall?

a) Sell the property

b) Lease the building

c) Reuse the building for City functions

d) Joint use between public and private (allow public to rent space, also use for City functions)

e) Other

The survey results and responses (for questions 2-4) are as follows: 

84 of 123



2 

85 of 123



 

3 
 

 

Question 2, full answers for “Other”: 

Self employed 
Disabled 

Adult student  
Stay at home mom  

Artist 
Homemaker 

Stay at home mom 
Self employed  

Sahm 
At Home Mom 

Mom 
Stay home parent 

Laid off 
Stay at home dad 

 

 

86 of 123



4 

Question 3, full answers for “Other”: 

Something for youth and families  

Nonprofit and community collaboration space 

An indoor skate park!  A small fee can be charged to recoup costs. Youth travel all over the state for an 
indoor venue to do this.  There can be a gathering space set up inside as well 

No police use 

Turn it into an art hub 

Sell zoned residential only 

A senior center, since it has a kitchen, and/or City functions (no private -public rental-too disruptive to 
the neighborhood) A MUST-  a police extension office for law enforcement presence down here. 

Sell or lease to Tulalip tribe for them to showcase their art, heritage and have a gift store or art shop 
for revenue 

Senior center 

Rosehill doesn't look like it's ever going to have a gym as promised so the community should be able 
to use the gym at Hawthorn Hall. 

Senior center 

87 of 123



 

5 
 

Partner with a non-profit and open a community center for those in need. Either a small shelter, "soup 
kitchen" etc.  

Vendors 

Community Coworking space with coffee shop 

Police staging location.  

Joint between public and private, but dedicate it to be an arts center 

Use as a satellite police station.  

Police facility for better old town safety; especially with this new north sound transportation 
hub/traffic drawing good & bad incidents to old town. 

I’d love to see it remain in the community for community use.  I know multiple leagues that could use 
the gym and groups of people that would love to lease the space for open basketball games. 

This could be a great space for weddings etc 

Joint use, but allow Mukilteo non-profits to use/lease space for sub-value 

Day care or special activities for teens and kids during covid 

Joint use or lease the building 

HONESTLY whatever the city feels it needs.  If they need the money, sell and allow a few homes to go 
up.  If city needs space, thinking not because of Rose Hill, but If so, then lease again.  What about 
another Montessorri location?  

Demolish. Sell land 

Low income senior housing 

Mukilteo/ regional historical museum 

 

88 of 123



6 

Question 4, full answers for “Other”: 

Nonprofit and community collaboration space 

Sell but zoned for residential only 

When a building is listed on the national historical society, it can qualify for grants from the Land and 
Community Heritage Investment program or the LCHIP and conservation. It can also qualify for commercial 
rehabilitations that meet the standards from the Secretary of Interior standards. This will give you a 20% tax 
credit. 

Lease or sell to Tulalip tribe to be used as a art, cultural or heritage center. They could sell art for revenue 

City functions or lease 

Vendors 

Police auxiliary location.  

Tear it down and build something for community use/rental 

Police facility for better old town safety; especially with this new north sound transportation hub/traffic drawing 
good & bad incidents to old town. 

Whatever the council thinks is best 

Joint use, but allow Mukilteo non-profits to use/lease space for sub-value 

Joint use or lease the building 

low income housing for seniors 

89 of 123



REQUEST FOR INTEREST: 

FOR SALE, LEASE/PURCHASE OR MASTER LEASE 

ISSUE DATE: SEPTEMBER 8, 2015   RESPONSES DUE: OCTOBER 30, 2015 

Old City Hall 

ADAPTIVE REUSE OF OLD CITY HALL IN DOWNTOWN TACOMA WASHINGTON 

55,505 SF, 5-STORY MASONRY BUILDING 

(AT 7TH BETWEEN PACIFIC AVENUE AND COMMERCE STREET ADJACENT TO I-705) 

EXHIBIT 8

90 of 123



 2 

Invitation 

Developers are invited to express their interest to the City of Tacoma, Washington in purchasing, lease/purchasing or master 

leasing Old City Hall (1892) located at 625 South Commerce Street in the downtown into a high quality development that con-

tributes to the vitality of the Old City Hall Historic District.  The District served as the city’s early governmental, commercial and 

entertainment center from 1886 through the 1920s.  It is perched high on a bluff overlooking beautiful Commencement Bay 

and exemplifies the lofty ambitions of the time.  The Old City Hall Historic District is on the Tacoma, State of Washington and 

National Registers of Historic Places and includes some of Tacoma’s most architecturally important buildings—namely, the 

Northern Pacific Headquarters (1888), the Beaux Arts Elks Temple (1916) and the Winthrop Hotel (1925).

Old City Hall, designed by E.A. Heatherton of San Francisco after Italian Renaissance town halls, features fine brickwork and 

terracotta ornamentation, tall windows, high ceilings, sweeping archways, exposed brick interiors and copper embellishments.  

The brick walls at the base of the structure are eight feet thick.  The walls of the freestanding clock tower tilt inward as they rise 

to increase the sense of height.  In 1905, Hugh C. Wallace, future U.S. Ambassador to France, donated the clock and chimes in 

memory of his daughter.  Prior uses have included municipal and private sector offices, shops and restaurants.

This iconic building, which epitomizes Tacoma’s civic pride and bright economic future, characterizes an important era in the 

city’s history.  As such, its restoration must honor the architecture of the late 19th century in which it was built while developing 

a compelling, sustainable reuse for this currently vacant property.  

It is the City’s preference to attract uses that create synergy with 

surrounding development, maximize tax revenues, recoup its invest-

ment, result in new jobs and draw pedestrian traffic to the area.  

Hotels or offices that support companies/organizations with finan-

cial strength and growth potential are strongly preferred.  Street-

level, pedestrian-friendly uses, such as restaurants and retail ven-

ues, are highly desirable.  Market rate residential development may 

also be considered.   Developers may utilize potential tax incentives 

primarily listed on Page 5 of this RFI to enable their projects.

Substantial reinvestment is underway in the Old City Hall Historic 

District.  Most notably, Redwood Housing Partners of Burlingame, 

California adjacent to San Francisco has commenced a $15 million 

renovation project of the former Winthrop Hotel.  McMenamins of 

Portland, Oregon, known for their destination-style brew pubs and 

entertainment centers, plans to begin a $22 million restoration of 

the former Elks Temple in spring 2016 and complete it within one 

year. 

91 of 123



 3 

Site Context 

Photo courtesy of  Peter Haley 

The News Tribune 

McMenamins Before Retrofit McMenamins After Retrofit Old City Hall Winthrop 

92 of 123



 4 

Parking Opportunities 

93 of 123



 5 

Property Information  

OWNER City of Tacoma; acquired June 19, 2015 for $4,000,000. 

ADDRESS 625 South Commerce Street, Tacoma, WA  98402.  At terminus of Interstate-705 (see map). 

In Downtown Tacoma along restaurant row between South 7th to 9th Streets and adjacent to 

the Theater District on South 9th Street. 

PARCEL NUMBER Pierce County:  032004-2007. 

BUILDING/LAND AREA 55,505 square foot, 5-story masonry building constructed in 1892 (adjusted year built 1970) 

on 0.39 acres (17,180 square feet) of land with 125 feet of frontage on Pacific Avenue and 

Commerce Street. 

ZONING DCC—Downtown Commercial Core. 

HISTORIC STATUS Within Old City Hall Historic District; on Tacoma, State of Washington and National Registers of 

Historic Places. 

LAND USE Downtown Mixed Use Center. 

ADJACENT LAND USE All adjacent land uses are within the Old City Hall Historic District. 

North:  Offices and new McMenamins to be renovated in 2016 and targeted to open in 2017. 

South:  Apartments. 

East:  Offices, restaurants and Fireman’s Park. 

West:  Predominantly surface parking and historic Spanish Steps. 

PARKING Exempt from parking requirements depending on use.  Leasable parking directly west of site. 

CONCURRENCY/SEPA Within North Downtown Subarea, which has a completed Planned Action EIS.  Concurrency test 

required. Refer to http://www.cityoftacoma.org/cms/one.aspx?portalId=169&pageId=15747. 

UTILITIES All utilities at site. 

WALK SCORE 92 out of 100 (Walker’s Paradise).  Daily errands do not require a vehicle. 

PUBLIC TRANSIT Within two blocks of Link light rail currently and planned station adjacent to it in 2019.  Pierce 

Transit (local bus service) and Sound Transit (commuter bus service to Seattle and Olympia). 

POTENTIAL INCENTIVES No impact fees. Historic Special Tax Valuation Program (10-year local property tax exemption on 

qual. improvements).  Federal Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credit Program (20% federal income 

tax credit).  New Markets Tax Credits.  Tacoma Multi-Family Property Tax Exemption Program. 

PLAN:  http://cms.cityoftacoma.org/planning/north%20downtown%20subarea/North%20Downtown%20Subarea%20Plan%20(10-14-14).pdf 

94 of 123



 6 

City Investment 

The City of Tacoma purchased the property for $4,000,000 on June 19, 2015.  At present, the City is working to address build-

ing life safety issues.  These include repairing a section of the roof to address a leak in the northwest corner of the structure, 

stabilizing metal cornices on the south side of the building and temporarily shoring up seven masonry arches.  Construction is 

designed to protect building integrity in the short-term.  The City prefers to sell the property, but will consider a lease/purchase 

or master lease.  It seeks projects that will result in maintaining the structure’s historic prominence, catalyzing surrounding 

development, maximizing tax revenues, recovering its investment, creating jobs, attracting new pedestrian traffic to the area 

and/or providing other public benefits. 

Property Tour 

In order for Developers to gain firsthand knowledge about this unique development opportunity, the City will provide a tour of 

the property on September 30, 2015.  The first tour will occur from 11:00 a.m.— 12 noon, and the second tour, from 12:30 

p.m.— 1:30 p.m.  Tours will start at 625 Commerce Street.  Attendees must sign an indemnity form prior to entering Old City

Hall.   Also,  tour participants  will be required  to wear hard hats,  which they may bring or borrow from the City.   If you are  

interested in the tour,  please RSVP  Elly Walkowiak,  Business Development Manager,  City of Tacoma at (253) 591-5209 or 

ewalkowiak@cityoftacoma.org by September 25, 2015.  Participating in the tour is voluntary.  Developers may submit respons-

es to this Request for Interest without taking the tour. 

Main Lobby Area  - First Floor Main Staircase 

95 of 123



 7 

Submittal Information 

Developers interested in the property are requested to submit a Letter of Interest describing: 

1. The overall development concept for the Project, including but not limited to the type of reuse (e.g. mixed use, office,

retail, hotel, residential), estimated amount of space designated for each use, number of hotel rooms and/or residential

units if applicable, proposed parking plan, commitment to historic restoration, public benefits and additional information

that responds to the City’s preferences as stated on Pages 2 and 6 of this RFI.

2. An overview of the Development Team’s qualifications and Project roles as well as other relevant experience in conduct-

ing successful historic/complex building renovations with stabilized occupancy that contributed vitality to the community.

3. The proposed capital investment and financing plan, including sources of funds.  Indicate the proposed Purchase Price,

Lease/Purchase Option or Master Lease Rate.  Financial references will be requested if selected to proceed further.

4. The anticipated schedule of key milestones, such as securing financing, acquiring the property, procuring entitlements,

beginning and completing restoration and obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy.

5. Preliminary deal terms in general that are important to the Developer (e.g. permit process assistance, tax credits).

General Conditions:  Information provided to the City is subject to the Washington Public Records Act.  It should be con-

sidered public information and available for review upon request. 

Provide  seven  (7)  hard  copies  by  5 p.m.  Pacific Time  on 

October 30, 2015 to: 

Elly Walkowiak, Business Development Manager 

City of Tacoma 

Community & Economic Development Department 

747 Market Street, Room 900 

Tacoma, WA  98402 

Questions related to this Request for Interest (RFI) shall be 

directed to Elly Walkowiak at ewalkowiak@cityoftacoma.org or 

by calling (253) 591-5209. 

96 of 123



 8 

Evaluation Process 

The City intends to evaluate all responses to this Request for Interest (RFI) within 30 days of the submittal deadline.  During 

the evaluation period, the City may seek additional information from the respondents.  Upon completion of its evaluation, the 

City may invite RFI respondents to participate further in an RFQ/RFP process, enter into a Development Agreement and/or 

Master Lease based on submittals received and without added process, or elect not to proceed further. 

Downtown Advantage 

Across the U.S., hundreds of companies are moving and returning to downtown locations documented in a June 2015 report 

from Smart Growth America.  Old City Hall in downtown Tacoma can assist businesses by enabling them to meet six identified 

core values:  (1) to attract and retain talented workers, (2) to build brand identity and company culture, (3) to support creative 

collaboration, (4) to be closer to customers and business partners, (5) to centralize operations and (6) to support triple bot-

tom-line business outcomes.  Old City Hall can meet the increasing demand for renovated unique and inspired architecture.

About Tacoma 

Tacoma, Washington is located in the Puget Sound region in a 

metropolitan area of over 3.4 million people.  It is approximately 

34 miles southwest of Seattle, 11 miles northeast of Joint Base 

Lewis-McChord (third largest military installation in the U.S.) and 

31 miles northeast of the state capital of Olympia.  Our livable, 

progressive international city is the state’s third largest munici-

pality with nearly 203,500 residents and serves as the center of 

commerce for the South Sound.  Tacoma’s key employment sec-

tors include finance & insurance, information technology, educa-

tion, health care, business & professional services, trade & lo-

gistics and government.  Regionally, aerospace, cybersecurity 

and clean technology continue to grow.   

Our major downtown employers include State Farm Mutual In-

surance, Columbia Bank, MultiCare Health System, Franciscan 

Health System, DaVita and Regence Blue Shield.  City, County, 

State and Federal government offices as well as educational 

service providers, such as the University of Washington Tacoma, 

comprise other key employers of the downtown economy. 

97 of 123



EXHIBIT 9

98 of 123



99 of 123



MUKILTEO HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT 

SUBJECT TITLE:  Hawthorne Hall FOR AGENDA OF: 
April 28, 2022 

Department Director(s): 
David Osaki, Community Development 
Director 

EXHIBITS: 
1. Link to Mukilteo City Council February 8,

2021 Council Packet - Hawthorne Hall
February 8 2021 City Council Hawthorne
HallContact Staff: David Osaki, Community 

Development Director  

RECOMMENDATION 
Following Historic Commissioner’s individual Hawthorne Hall site visits, Mukilteo Commission 
to discuss Hawthorne Hall, including additional information it would like to obtain in order to 
continue its discussion and evaluation. 

BACKGROUND 
As was discussed at the Commission’s January 13, 2022 and February 28, 2022 meetings, one of 
the properties on the Mukilteo Register of Historic Places is City owned property commonly 
referred to as Hawthorne Hall.    

Located at 1134 2nd Street, Hawthorne Hall is an approximately 7,500 square foot building on an 
approximately 0.36 acre parcel.   The property is located at the end of a dead-end street (2nd 
Street) in a single family zoned area.  The Hawthorne Hall property is also zoned Single Family 
Residential (“RD 7.5 Single Family Residential”). 

The Hawthorne Hall property was leased by the City to the Mukilteo Boys and Girls Club of 
Snohomish County (BGCSC) from the mid-1960’s to about 2019.   With the opening of its new 
facility at 10600 47th Place West (in Mukilteo), the BGCSC vacated Hawthorne Hall.   It has 
remained vacant since. 

The City Council has been discussing the future use of Hawthorne Hall.   The most recent City 
Council discussion of the future use of Hawthorne Hall was February 8, 2021.    Exhibit 1 is the 
link to the City Council February 8, 2021 Agenda Bill (i.e. staff report) and associated exhibits.   

No City Council decision has been made about Hawthorne Hall. 

Most Commission members made a site visit to Hawthorne Hall in March 2022.  The April 28, 
2022 Historic Preservation Commission meeting will include a discussion of Hawthorne Hall, 
including Commission thoughts and perceptions from the site visits and a discussion of 
additional information which the Commission would like as it continues its discussion of 
Hawthorne Hall. 

Page 5 of 16100 of 123

https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=941&meta_id=40138
https://mukilteo-wa.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=941&meta_id=40138


Also, it was hoped that a representative from the Washington State Department of Archaeology 
and Historic Preservation (DAHP) could attend the April 28, 2022 Historic Commission 
meeting for training and to discuss Hawthorne Hall; however, a conflict has  prevented that. 

The Commission can discuss having a special meeting in May solely for the purpose of having 
the Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation representative 
attend to conduct training and discuss issues such as Hawthorne Hall. 

ALTERNATIVES 
None.   

Page 6 of 16101 of 123



1

Hawthorne Hall
Mukilteo Historic Commission

February 28, 2022

102 of 123



Hawthorne Hall
1134 2nd Street

2

• Built in Early 1920’s by Volunteers (Funding, 
Labor, & Materials)

• City owned since the 1950’s

• Used by Boy and Girls Clubs since mid-1960’s to 
2019 ($1.00 per year)

• Mukilteo Register of 
Historic Places (1993)

103 of 123



General Property Characteristics 
Existing Zoning

• RD 7.5 Single Family Residential
• Surrounding properties all zoned RD 7.5 Single Family Residential 

(including south across 2nd Street)

Lot Size
• Approximately 0.36 acres  (County Assessor Information) ~15,600 

square feet) 

Building Square Footage
• Approximately 7,492 Square Feet (County Assessor Information) 
• Main Floor  6,000 square feet

Parking
• 12 marked parking spaces (includes one disabled parking space)

3104 of 123



Conceptual Floor Building Layout

Main (1st) Floor
• ¾ size basketball court

• 1st floor also has restrooms 
&  equipment storage closets 
(not shown, but in location of offices)

Upper Floor 
• Storage

4105 of 123



Mukilteo Register 
of Historic Places (1993) 

• Historic Property Inventory Form (in the Commission 
Agenda packet)

o Discusses Community Significance
o Physical Appearance/Architecture

• Municipal Code assigns evaluation of impacts and changes 
to Mukilteo Historic Register properties, including 
demolition, to the City’s Historic Commission.

5106 of 123



Prior Discussions on Future Use

ALTERNATIVE 1:  Sell the Property

• “As-is"  
• Prepare the building/property for sale   
• Demolish the building/sell the land 

ALTERNATIVE 2: Exclusive City Use

Police Department* 
• Public outreach, crime prevention training, police volunteers, 

storage, and other training 
Recreation and Cultural Services Department * 
• Youth/adult gym space, indoor youth activities and adult 

exercise   

*Neither the Police Department nor Recreation and Cultural Services  
Department  would occupy the building for regular extended periods of 
time. 6107 of 123



Prior Discussions 
on Future Use (Cont.)

ALTERNATIVE 3:  Lease the Building

(e.g. Blue Royals Volleyball Academy expressed prior interest in
building lease, maybe purchase)

ALTERNATIVE 4:  Combine Alternative 2 and Alternative 3

Joint use of the facility by both a non-City organization and the City.

7108 of 123



Recreation and Cultural Services 
Department

Hawthorne Hall Use would need to consider: 

• Rosehill’s 2021 focus was on recovering activity in Rosehill.  

• Indoor youth activities and adult exercise is possible, but envisioned 
only at a level of a few hours a day. 

• Hawthorne Hall is not in the current Recreation and Cultural Services 
Department business plan.

• Any outside organization that uses Hawthorne Hall should not 
compete with City sponsored programs. 

8109 of 123



OTAK Hawthorne Hall 
Structural Condition 
Assessment Report   

(September 2020)

Presented to City Council by Consultant 
October 12, 2020 

(Council meeting recording on-line)

9110 of 123



Structural Condition Assessment Report 
Direct Construction Cost Estimates

Building Component Total

Foundations $95,120

Floor Framing 38,587

Wall Framing 111,494

Roof Framing 45,469

Lateral System/Seismic 285,995

Seismic Checklist 10,552

TOTAL $587,217

10111 of 123



Structural Condition Assessment Report
Construction Cost Estimates

• Assumes: 
o Construction start date of August 2021 
o Competitively bid project with at least three qualified bidders.

• Estimates are direct construction costs only 
o Excludes architect/engineering fees, consultant fees, sales tax, hazardous 

materials testing and removal, and/or any other similar development costs

• Recommends no indoor uses until wall truss 
addressed (about $6,000 in direct construction costs)

• Very limited amount of asbestos.  Lead paint in the 
main hall/exterior.   (No cost estimates for hazardous materials 
environmental remediation/removal. Assessment focused on 
structural issues.)

11112 of 123



Zoning - Land Uses
MUKILTEO ZONING CODE 

EXISTING RD-7500 ZONING DISTRICT 
USE NOTES

Single Family Residences Permitted Use. Division of land, if pursued, must meet 7,500 square foot 
minimum lot size and other bulk/dimension requirements.

Clubs, charitable, nonprofit or 
social organization 

Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and Decision 
based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 ) 

Government Offices Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and Decision 
based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 )

Places of worship Conditional Use Permit. (Hearing Examiner Public Hearing and Decision 
based on criteria in MMC 17.64.020 )

Community center buildings and 
grounds

Not permitted in RD 7500.  Permitted in the Public/Semi-Public Use zoning 
District. A comprehensive plan map/rezone would be required.

Government garage, shops, fire 
stations, police stations and 
storage buildings

Not permitted in RD-7500, although staff would look at seeing if use of a 
building associated with police, fire etc., that are basically office functions, 
would fit into the Government Office use category and be allowed subject 
to a conditional use permit.

Office, General Not permitted in RD-7500. Permitted in all commercial and industrial 
zones.

12113 of 123



Operating Expenses 
(2021 Estimates)

ITEM EXPENSE
• Recreation and Cultural Arts 

Staffing (limited recreational 
use)

• $25,000 or more - 1/4 to 1/2 FTE (depending on 
level of use)

• Utilities • $  6,300 Annually (2020 utility costs, building 
vacant)

• Insurance • $  1,500 Annually (building vacant, no contents) 

• Operation/Maintenance (once 
the building is operational)

• $30,000 Annually - Facilities Maintenance O&M
• $30,000 Annually - ½ time FTE Custodian
• $  8,000  Annually - Building & Fixture Repair 

and Maintenance 

13

Furnishings (e.g. desks), technology infrastructure (e.g. phone, computers, copy machine), 
recreational equipment and similar items not included.

114 of 123



Public Outreach

14115 of 123



On Line Public Survey
• Survey Open Mid-November 2020 to January 25, 2021

• 189 Responses

• Four  (4) Questions 
1. General Location of where respondent lives (four choices) 
2. Employed/Retired 
3. Preference for future use (five choices, including Other)
4. Preference for future use, if City revenues were limited 

(same five choices as above, including Other)

• Respondents were able to add brief comments.

15116 of 123



16117 of 123



17118 of 123



18119 of 123



Public Outreach
• Organizations such as Mukilteo Historical Society, Mukilteo Senior 

Association, Jericho Bridge Church,  YMCA, Boys and Girls Clubs, 
another historical society.

o Obtain ideas for future use, including other possible organizations 
that may have interest

• Parks and Arts Commission (PAC) and Planning Commission 
briefed.

19120 of 123



Mukilteo 
Historical Society

• Location poses challenges for a Museum 
o Lack of visibility, no pass by traffic,  difficult to find
o Lighthouse Park offers  parking, more visibility and surrounding uses 

(e.g. waterfront, commercial businesses) to attract casual visitors

• Hawthorne Hall might fill a need or void that Rosehill 
cannot provide.  

(e.g. weddings at a different scale, size and expense)  

• Event space (that may or may not include certain historical themes)
o Decorate and sell holiday trees
o Holiday party rentals
o Fundraisers

20121 of 123



Washington
State Department of Archeology and Historic 

Preservation (DAHP)

• Was the City planning to issue a request for proposals to potential 
developers/business owners?  

• Acknowledged the property is “boxed in”.  Is moving the building an option, 
(although not moving the building would not be inexpensive)?

• Mentioned holding a community meeting and/or holding a community design 
charrette with a local architect that would be interested in donating time. 

• Distributed information about Hawthorne Hall to its professional network to 
solicit ideas.  The City did not receive additional comments from DAHP.

21122 of 123



QUESTIONS

22123 of 123


	01 November 1, 2022 Agenda
	02 Draft Minutes for June 23, 2022-Final
	03 AB Hawthorne Hall
	04 Hawthorne Hall_February Packet
	04 AB Historic Commission - Hawthorne Hall
	04 EXH 1 Feb 8 2021 Council Packet
	04 EXH 1Hawthorne Hall JANUARY 28
	AB21-08 EXH 1 PP Hawthorne Hall Latest (1-29-21 LA edits)
	AB21-08 EXH 2  Property Building Characteristics
	AB21-08 EXH 3 HH Historic Inventory Form
	AB21-08 EXH 4  Comp Plan Pgs 31-32 2
	AB21-08 EXH 5 Structural Assesss w Append C and E
	AB21-08 EXH 6 OTAK Structural Assessment Summary
	AB21-08 EXH 7 Hawthorne Hall Survey Jan 28
	AB21-08 EXH 8 2015 TACOMA Old City Hall RFI - FINAL
	AB21-08 EXH 9 2017 Jericho Bridge Church


	05 Hawthorne Hall_April Packet
	03 AB Historic Commission - Hawthorne Hall

	Hawthorne Hall_February PPT-Update - ASK
	Slide Number 1
	Hawthorne Hall�1134 2nd Street
	General Property Characteristics 
	Conceptual Floor Building Layout
	Mukilteo Register �of Historic Places (1993) 
	Prior Discussions on Future Use
	Prior Discussions �on Future Use (Cont.)
	�Recreation and Cultural Services Department  
	Slide Number 9
	Structural Condition Assessment Report � Direct Construction Cost Estimates
	� �Structural Condition Assessment Report�Construction Cost Estimates
	Zoning - Land Uses
	Operating Expenses �(2021 Estimates)
	Slide Number 14
	On Line Public Survey
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Public Outreach
	Mukilteo �Historical Society
	Washington�State Department of Archeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP)
	Slide Number 22




